
           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  
  

CCoommmmiitttteeee  ooff  tthhee  WWhhoollee  ––  66::3300  pp..mm..    

RReegguullaarr  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  MMeeeettiinngg  ––  77::0000  pp..mm..    
 

  

 CCOOUUNNCCIILL  MMEEMMBBEERRSS              MMAAYYOORR 
  Richard Holm -Alt. Dep. Mayor Pro Tem    488-1776 Bryce Ward – 488-7314  

  Sharron Hunter-Mayor Pro Tem  488-4282                 

    Thomas McGhee             455-0010 

  Derrick Nelson             378-8207  

  Michelle Sikma -Dep. Mayor Pro Tem 378-5778 

  Preston Smith     488-8824   

          CCIITTYY  CCLLEERRKK 

                Kathy Weber, MMC  488-8583   

 

 
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 

  

2. Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag   
 

 National Anthem sung by Ice House Gang-Barber Shop Quartet 

Richard Holm, Jo Knox, Stephen Harmon, Steve Caskey   

 

3. Invocation   

 Irish Blessing by the Ice House Gang-Barber Shop Quartet 

  

4. Approval of the Agenda 

 

5. Approval of the Minutes  

  

6. Communications from the Mayor 

 

7.      Council Member Questions of the Mayor 

 

8.      Communications from Department Heads, Borough Representative and the City 

         Clerk  

 Presentation of the 2012 Annual Audit by Mikunda, Cottrell, Inc. 

CCIITTYY  OOFF  NNOORRTTHH  PPOOLLEE  

AAllaasskkaa  
 o 

RREEGGUULLAARR  CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  MMEEEETTIINNGG    

MMoonnddaayy,,  MMaayy  66,,  22001133  
 

 

  

  

  

  



 

9.      Ongoing Projects Report 
 

10.    Citizens Comments (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 

 

11.    Old Business 

 

a. Reconsideration of Ordinance 13-06, an ordinance amending Title 2, Chapter 2.36 

Pay, of the Personnel Code  

 

12.   New Business 

 

a. Recommendation to purchase forensic equipment for the NPPD in the amount of 

$11,585 with state forfeiture funds and ICAC funds from Anchorage Police 

Department. 

. 

b. Recommendation to purchase a Police motorcycle for NPPD in the amount of 

$18,150 with federal forfeiture funds. 

 

c. Recommendation to purchase a backhoe for the Utility and Public Works 

Departments. 

 

d. Ordinance 13-07, An Ordinance Amending Title 8, Health & Safety, Section 

8.04.160, Noise. 

 

e. Ordinance 13-08, An Ordinance Amending the 2013 Budget and Levying the Mill 

Rate. 

 

f. Resolution 13-08, A Resolution granting the mayor authority to sign a short-term 

line of credit to facilitate cash flow during the summer 2013 construction season. 

 

g. Resolution 13-09, A Resolution accepting a public use easement on the North Pole 

Middle School, Tract D, ASLA 84-16, for a fitness recreational trail. 

 

13.  Executive Session – To discuss personnel issues in the Police Dept. 

 

14.  Council Comments 

 

15.    Adjournment 

 

The City of North Pole will provide an interpreter at City Council meetings for hearing 

impaired individuals.  The City does require at least 48 hours notice to arrange for this 

service.  All such requests are subject to the availability of an interpreter.  All City Council 

meetings are recorded on CD.  These CD’s are available for listening or duplication at the City 

Clerk’s Office during regular business hours, Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

or can be purchased for $5.00 per CD. The City Clerk’s Office is located in City Hall, 125 

Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska.  



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

1 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 

      Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, April 15, 2013 in the 

Council Chambers of City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

Mayor Ward called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, April 15, 2013 to order at 7:00 

p.m. 

 

There were present:     Absent/Excused 

Mr. Holm       

Ms. Hunter           

Mr. McGhee       

Mr. Nelson           

Ms. Sikma 

Mr. Smith         

Mayor Ward      

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Mayor Ward 

National Anthem sung by NPMS – Angie Allen, Shahiba Bhattarai, Taylor Hendricks, Lindsey 

Hilliard, Mikiah Jackson, Ashley Roberts 

 

INVOCATION  
Invocation was given by Mayor Ward 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

Mr. McGhee moved to Approve the Agenda of April 15, 2013 

 

Seconded by Mr. Holm 

 

Discussion 

None 

 

PASSED 

YES – 7 – Hunter, Sikma, Holm, Smith, Nelson, McGhee, Ward 

NO – 0 

Absent – 0 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mr. Holm moved to Approve the minutes of April 1, 2013 

 

Seconded by Mr. McGhee 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

2 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Discussion 

None 

 

PASSED 

YES: 

NO: 

Absent: 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 

Friday April 19th Will be the next Muffins with the Mayor.  The public is encouraged to attend 

every third Friday of the month from 7am-9am in City Chambers! 

The 4
th

 of July Festivities planning has begun.  The meeting dates are as follows:  

April 22
nd

, May 13
th

, May 28
th

, June 10
th

, June24th and July 2
nd

.  All meetings will be in the 

Council Chambers at 6PM.  Please come if you want to be involved we only have 6 meetings to 

plan this event.   

April 18
th

 Friday at 6 PM at Hotel North Pole will be the members meeting for the Chamber, 

please come if you are interested in becoming a member or just discovering what the North Pole 

Community Chamber is.  

May 1
st
 at 6PM in the Chambers is a Census data Workshop.  It will be at 6PM.  Come discover 

all of the data available from the Census bureau.  

Gas Trucking passed the house and senate and is on its way to the Governor.  The proposal was 

gas in two years!   

General Mark Welsh III will be at Eielson on May 1
st
.  General Welsh is the Chief of Staff of the 

Air Force.  I will be meeting with him along with the other Mayors about Eielson.   

Proclamation – Student of the Month 

Kayla Heindrichs - NPE 

 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR 

None 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 

REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 

 

 

Police Department, Chief Dutra 

 Chief Dutra presented Officer Jed Smith with his Police I certificate. 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

3 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

 Chief Dutra was nominated for the Family Friendly Work Place. 

 Drug take back event will be on April 27
th

.  The public is welcome to come to the NPPD 

to drop off unused prescription drugs. 

 May 9
th

 is the graduation date for new officers. 

 Sold both snow machines and the money is in the account, $16,000. 

 Ms. Sikma has asked for statistics from the Dept. and he will have them for the next 

meeting. 

 Chief Dutra attended all three services in Anchorage for the officers who were killed in 

the line of duty.   

 

Mr. McGhee stated that it would be nice to have ammunition and guns that are no longer in use 

to have a day where the police department could take them in. 

 

Fire Department, Chief Lane 

 Chief Lane stated that on Friday at 6pm they are having their 6
th

 annual chili feed to raise 

money at hotel north pole 

 May 3
rd

 is NPFD appreciation dinner at 6pm at Hotel North Pole. 

 State budget has the ladder truck in their budget and it is going to the governor along with 

the ambulance and an air pack upgrade. 

 Homeland security training was attended well and key members of the staff need to take 

these courses.   

 All council members need to have their courses up to date and we need to have our EOC 

ready for operation. 

 Chief Dutra and Chief Lane attended the state EOC in Anchorage.  Chief Lane also 

toured EMOC and was impressed with it. 

 City of Fairbanks has received money and has graciously said that if bids come back low 

enough they will include the City of North Pole in their mitigation plan. 

 NPFD just finished a firefighter one class and is in the process of doing a firefighter 2 

class.  UAF is doing a RIF class and will finish on Sunday. 

 New hires are Justin Williams, Jesse Stern, and Jayson Russell. 

 

 

Director of City Services, Bill Butler 

Building Department 

 No new building permits issued since last Council meeting 

 Indications for a stronger than average construction; currently all 

commercial/institutional/industrial projects 

 North Pole Library (bid date extended to April 26) 

 Middle School roof replacement (not yet released for bids) 

 Westcott Pool fire alarm replacement (not yet released for bids) 

 Flint Hills maintenance building siding upgrade (permit application pending) 

 Eagle Wings Assisted Living addition (project under plan review) 

 Moose Lodge roof replacement (permit application submitted) 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

4 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Public Works 

 Had a late season snow plowing last week 

 Hard pack removal started week of April 1 before weather turned cold 

 If forecasted warm temperatures arrive this week will restart hard pack removal later 

this week 

 Sample bench and planter built by Public Works staff on display at entrance to City Hall 

 Saint Nicholas Pedestrian Path project appears to be on track for 2014 construction 

 Money for the project must be obligated by September 30 or the project will be 

canceled 

 DOT in negotiations with property owners for right of way acquisition  

 Construction bid documents being drafted 

 DOT working with City to arrange a variance to permit around-the-clock work to 

replace Beaver Springs culvert on Saint Nicholas Drive.  

 Proposing to introduce an ordinance to amend Municipal Code that will permit 

mayor the authority to grant variances of the noise ordinance for special projects 

like the planned construction on Saint Nicholas Drive 

 City of North Pole’s storm water permit renewal is open for public comment until 

May 13, 2013 

 Permit available for review and comment on ADEC’s website at 

http://www.dec.state.ak.us/water/wwdp/PublicNotice.htm 

 North Pole is a co-permittee with the City of Fairbanks, DOT and the University 

of Alaska Fairbanks 

 Will be recruiting Public Works summer hire positions starting this Saturday 

 Planned start date for summer hires is Mid-May. 

 

City Accountant, Lisa Vaughn 

 Ms. Vaughn reported that the March financials have not been reconciled.  She is still 

working on audit and awaiting the adjusted journal entries.  The City is also waiting 

for the draft financial statements from Mikunda, Cottrell and when they are received 

they will send them out to the council members. 

 

Mr. McGhee asked Ms. Vaughn to put together a report to show what the events from this past 

winter brought in for sales tax. 

 

Borough Representative 

 None 

 

 

City Clerk  

 The City of North Pole will be conducting our own election this year due to the wording 

in our code.  Currently our code reads that the election will be held on the 1
st
 Tuesday 

after the 1
st
 Monday in October.  However, this is in conflict with the FNSB and The City 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

5 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

of Fairbanks.  The City of Fairbanks was able to fix their code so they would be able to 

conduct their election with FNSB but our code reads that it would need to be changed a 

year prior to the election.  With that said, the FNSB will hold their election on October 1
st
 

and we will hold our election on October 8
th

.  I will be going through our election code 

again and bringing forth some important changes.  Any changes we make to the election 

code must have pre clearance with the Department of Justice under Section 5, Voting 

Rights Act.  

 

 

ONGOING PROJECTS 
None 

 

 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 

None 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

None 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 

AND THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA FOR THE PROVISION OF LAW 

ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

Chief Dutra explained the contract and went over it with the council.  This contract gives the 

Chena Lakes Recreation area an officer for the season.  This agreement has been in force since 

the 1990’s and he encouraged the council to approve it. 

 

Mr. McGhee asked if the vehicle received overtime. 

 

Chief Dutra said that they would receive overtime for the vehicle and the officer. 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Approve Cooperative Agreement between the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers and the City of North Pole, Alaska for the Provision of Law Enforcement 

Services 

 

Seconded by Ms. Sikma 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee asked if these funds went into the general fund. 

 

Mayor Ward stated that they did. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

6 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

PASSED 

YES:  7 – Sikma, Hunter, Holm, Nelson, Smith, McGhee, Ward 

NO:  0 

Absent: 0 

 

ORDINANCE 13-04, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 4.08, SALES 

TAX 

Mayor Ward stated that the City of North Pole has approximately 2,200 residents, 4 schools and 

2 refineries and is slightly over 4 square miles.  Surrounding North Pole is the North Pole area 

consisting of approximately 25,000 residents and is around 90 square miles. 

North Pole is unique because many more people traverse the city each day than live in the City 

limits.  This puts additional stress on the infrastructure and service departments of the City of 

North Pole over that of a typical 2,200 resident city.  

Mayor Ward stated that the City has many troublesome trends in North Pole.  During May of 

2010 and 2011 they had less than $400,000 in General Fund Cash and in May of 2012 they had 

slightly over $400,000 in General Fund cash. 

Ordinance 13-04 serves two purposes.  The first aspect of this ordinance increases the City 

alcohol tax from 5% to 8%, the increase recognized by 6 months of revenue from this source is 

purposed to join with cuts from departments to balance the 2013 budget. 

The 1% sales tax portion of the ordinance is purposed to set monies aside for Reserves, a Fleet 

Fund, and a Capital Projects Fund.  It is not my intention to use these monies for increased 

staffing or other operational expenses of that type.  These taxes are to be used to plan and save 

for our future. 

The exemptions removed by this ordinance have no monetary value associated with the physical 

note of this ordinance and are meant to increase the fairness of the sales tax.   

The sales tax ordinance in front of council tonight is meant to be coupled with a resolution to 

lower property tax 1.001 mills in 2014.  This is meant to incentivize land owners and ownership.  

If the ordinance at hand continues to its second reading, the resolution will accompany it on May 

6
th

.  

 

Public Comment 

Rudy Gavora, 2810 Misty Fjords Ct. 

Mr. Gavora stated that North Pole is a large market between ¼ and 1/3  of the total shoppers of 

the FNSB.  He said the joke in Fairbanks is that North Pole is a speed trap and that North Pole 

wants to work as a toll bridge for taxes.  He spoke against the increase in the sales tax and said 

that speaking as a landlord for Safeway that there lease wouldn’t be here forever.  He stated that 

the grocery store has been and will be the largest contributor to sales tax and that money will go 

where it is treated well. 

 

Ms. Hunter asked if he thought Safeway would leave if they raised the sales tax. 

 

Mr. Gavora said that North Pole is ripe for development right outside of the City limits.  He said 

that North Pole doesn’t have the variety of business that Fairbanks has.  

 

Mr. Smith said that years ago the mall was full. What made them go? 

 

Mr. Gavora said the sales tax made them go.  A sales tax penalizes the shopper.   



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

7 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

 

Carey Spohn, 1911 Endicott Ave 

Ms. Spohn said that she sees our business go to Fairbanks.  She spoke against the sales tax. 

 

Hank Bartos, 3514 Hoonah Lane 

Mr. Bartos spoke against the sales tax.  He said the council needs to look at what’s happening in 

the community.  Mr. Bartos also spoke against purchasing a backhoe for the Public Works Dept. 

 

Ron Therriault, 2578 Noatak Street 

Mr. Therriault spoke against the sales tax.  He concurred with Mr. Gavora that sales tax is like 

getting kicked and he would rather have a property tax.   

 

Ron Jones, 2410 San Augustin 

Mr. Jones said this was talked about at Rotary and Mr. Gavora made a good point.  At this point 

they don’t know if the F16’s are moving.  The exercises were halted because of finances.  The 

sales tax and gas prices are driving people to Fairbanks.  He would like to patronize Safeway but 

can’t see it.  The tax to 4% was supposed to be temporary.  California has highest tax base in the 

nation and they are broke and their government has gone to china.  He wished the council luck. 

 

Mr. McGhee asked if Mr. Jones knew that Safeway was 9% higher than Fairbanks. 

 

Ross Atkins, 667 St. Nicholas Drive 

Mr. Atkins said he was on council in 1966 and since he has developed a business, He said the 

City has chosen the wrong time to raise the sales tax.  He has talked with the Mayor and wants to 

raise taxes and reserve funds because there weren’t good bookkeeping practices in the past.  He 

said a lot of the expenses go outside the city limits.  That’s the boroughs job.  Mr. Atkins said 

that the City of North Pole is headed to the same place the City of Fairbanks is headed and they 

can’t afford Ponzi scheme retirement system.  The City needs to look at what your spending is.   

 

Buzz Otis, 605 St. Nicholas Drive 

Mr. Otis is the owner of Forbes Storage.  He spoke against the sales tax and said he can’t pass 

this on to the consumer.  He spoke against the exemptions and would rather see an increase in 

property tax.  He agreed that North Pole is viewed as a speed trap and council has a tough job 

ahead of them. 

 

Paul Brown, 1807 Christine Drive 

Mr. Brown said he doesn’t envy the position the council is in but raising a sales tax is a 

temporary fix to a bigger problem.  He stated that people are not shopping in North Pole and the 

military will shop on base.  Red flag and northern edge has been cancelled and North Pole is 

going to feel it along with the bed tax.  If we lose any retail or restaurants we will be hurting.  If  

EAFB goes away and sales tax rises we will lose businesses.  He stated that the smartest way to 

fix this is to raise the property tax and then drop it in 4 years.   

 

Phil Zastrow, 2555 Peridot 

Mr. Zastrow spoke against the sales tax.  He agrees with the property tax increase and not the 

sales tax.  The City of North Pole needs to cut their spending and they have too many cop cars.  

He told council to consider not replacing the people who retire.   



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

8 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

 

Renee Webb Otis, 605 St. Nicholas Drive 

Ms. Otis spoke against the sales tax. She stated that she only buys certain things in North Pole 

and buys the majority of her purchases in Fairbanks.  Many customers would not be able to 

afford the storage units if the sales tax were put in.  They also own a 10 plex that is not full and 

would not like to see the exemption go away.  She is a CPA and understands finances and would 

prefer to increase the property tax. 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 13-04, An Ordinance Amending 

Title 4, Chapter 4.08, Sales Tax 

 

Seconded by Ms. Sikma 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee commended the mayor for his efforts and that he has worried the past two nights on 

the agenda.  He has brought a proposal to help cover some of the losses in revenue and try to 

regenerate or cut.  He is for raising the mill rate and has to be convinced to raise the sales tax.  

Most of our services are burdened by the people outside the limits.  The Safeway store has been 

a mainstay but agrees with testimony that now is not the time to raise the tax.  He is not happy 

with a lot of things that are coming up in the agenda.  He is not pleased with removing real 

property exemptions.  He can’t support the rest of them.  With losing $80,000 in revenue he can’t 

support this ordinance.  This is the first time we’ve had to cut.  Not an equitable move.  Things 

are tight right now and he is considering cuts in his own business. 

 

Mr. Nelson said he was uncomfortable with the budget.  He said this is robbing Peter to pay Paul 

as this is a short term problem and we need to take measures to bring it back down. 

 

Mr. Smith said this is a very trying time.  He said with the input from all the businesses he agrees 

it is not the right time to raise the sales tax.  He appreciates all the time he has put into this but it 

is not the right time. 

 

Mr. Holm said he is opposed to any increase in sales tax.  He thanked everyone who testified.  

Everyone spoke against it.  For years we have stifled business and need to find new ways to 

control the budget.  Reduce the city services and get back to reality and run this city in a way we 

can go forward.  Raising sales tax is not the way to go.  He wants to see the payroll reduced. 

 

Ms. Sikma – Ms. Sikma read this into the minutes: 

Before anything else is said, I am compelled to acknowledge the horror in Boston today. 

Families, homes and communities have been shaken. It is at times like this that communities 

begin bonding and gathering closer together. I love my North Pole. I shudder to think of any 

tragedy happening here. And would rather have our strength in place, than to try to piece it 

together after the fact. 

  

I believe, at least for myself, that Perspective seems to be the new word for the year. Couple that 

with Perception, and the story changes. I debated once with my employer about perception and 

truth. Her argument was that perception is truth. I argued that truth is perception, or at least it 

should be. From a limited perspective, we form a perception. But does that make it true? Not 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

9 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

always. And I have been on the receiving end of feeling foolish when the whole story was 

revealed.  When we jump to conclusions without all the facts. That is the main reason the Mayor, 

myself and all here on the Council encourage every citizen, property owner, business owner, 

employer, employee to share with us the kind of community you want to raise your families in. 

  

And now, to acknowledge the first elephant in the room. Taxes. The perception of taxes are that 

they are evil. But the result of them is not. Clean streets, exceptional fire and police service, and 

a staff full of long invested people that love working for, and in, this community. I love North 

Pole. There, I said it. I confess for some insane reason that I would rather live here than on the 

white beaches of Florida. Which I have tried and failed.  The second elephant, is the current state 

and possible future for our national and international economies. We are in uncharted waters. 

There are too many unknowns. And a lot of fears. My feelings? Alaska will survive and can 

survive anything. We are surrounded by resources. Ripe and ready. But ensuring that the 

foundation and structures in place can sustain and maintain these resources is and should be our 

first goal. Mayor Ward has only just begun to scratch the surface in ensuring that these two 

pivotal pieces align with the heart of the city as a community. 

  

When you I a plumber to fix the sink, I am paying for a service. I understand the work is not free. 

There was a service fee that I asked for in requesting the service itself. This is what our taxes pay 

for. When I shop and pay tax, I am paying a ‘service fee’ because I like enjoying the clean 

streets. I like the sense and beauty of my community when I see the parks, and flowers, and 

thematic North Pole lights. And if the two dollars and fifty cents that I just paid in taxes on a $50 

dollar purchase helps me invest in what I want and enjoy in my living environment, then I will 

willingly pay. 

  

On the flip side, if the community decides that it doesn’t want these services, then they need to 

let us know. In providing a foundation and structure of services that new businesses can develop 

in, taxes (or fees) are requested from those who use these services. Again, taxes are not evil. 

Money is not evil. It is a tool. To be invested and made to work and increase on its own.  I don’t 

work for money. Money works for me. I reap what I sow. If I plant corn, I don’t get potatoes. If I 

don’t plant, I don’t get anything, and what I have is eaten up quickly. 

  

When I first approached the Mayor with my objections about a sales tax, I was met with 

openness and sincere consideration. And having to consider increasing taxes to the city was the 

last thing anyone of us wanted. However, with the revenue shortfalls we were faced with some 

hard choices. Not to mention the deferred maintenance of city property providing services, and 

absolutely no savings to cover fleet vehicle replacements.  Solutions were raised and 

thoughtfully considered. But, in my opinion, there were only two viable options. One, we can 

direct the city to cut services by a third or more, most of which are already strained. Or, we 

increase the sales tax. Sales tax being by far the most fair to those who strain the system. And as 

an investment back into our city property owners, a decrease in the property tax mil rate, we 

hope will bring some relief in these unknown economic  times. 

  

North Pole is a great place to live and work. Employment in North Pole is at a premium for the 

30,000 people who live within a 10 mile radius of our city center. Myself, I have saved more 

money on gas by shopping and working in the North Pole area than driving to the other side of 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

10 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Fairbanks every day. This is my home. This is my community. I enjoy the high quality of life we 

experience here. 

  

I encourage everyone to be open to a change in perspective. Allow as many perspectives in so 

that the whole perspective might be seen. North Pole has so much to offer. And I would say that 

it is the epi-center of potential development and growth in business and exceptional community 

living. And that it can become the paradigm model of success. 

  

With all that being said, I stand behind the proposed plan by Mayor Ward. With the exception of 

the proposed amendments and retaining certain exemptions. 

 

Ms. Hunter thanked the people who came and testified tonight.  She had a change of direction 

that she wasn’t anticipating.  She is glad to be paying the tax for the return she gets.  Paying the 

sales tax is worth it.  Initially it seemed better to stretch it out over more people with sales tax.  

After hearing testimony she feels that she would more entertain a mill rate increase.  She is 

cautious of cutting city services and still wants to maintain the same level as we have now. 

 

Mayor Ward said he found the whole process very encouraging and moving forward.  Sounds as 

though they don’t have a plan that the public and council likes.  There are three goals; reserves 

establish vehicle fleet fund; and build general fund cash to a minimum of 25% of operating 

budget by end of 2017.  Part of that was to increase the sales tax and decrease the mill rate.  He 

appreciates the opportunity would like to see it go through but again he is encouraged by the 

community you live in. 

 

Mr. McGhee said there are some other areas and can maintained the mill rate and financial 

responsibility and some of the projects that we are doing and redirect those funds.  The utility 

department is the one to come up with the most saving and.  He said the city is spending over 

$35,000 a year at producing events.  He stated that they are good at it but asking a very simple 

question; what plan have you put forward to redirect cost and financial needs.  Fire and police 

need to regroup.  There is potential and he encouraged the mayor to keep the workshops going. 

 

FAILED 

YES:  2 – Sikma, Ward 

NO:  5 – Nelson, McGhee, Holm Smith Hunter 

Absent: 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 13-05, AND ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 4, REVENUE AND 

FINANCE, CHAPTER 4.04, FISCAL YEAR, AND INTRODUCING SECTION 4.04.030 

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROJECT FUND, 4.04.040 GENERAL FUND VEHICLE 

AND HEAVY EQUIPMENT FLEET FUND, AND 4.04.050 UTILITY DEPARTMENT 

VEHICLE AND HEAVY EQUIPMENT FLEET FUND 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Postpone Ordinance 13-05, And Ordinance Amending Title 4, 

Revenue And Finance, Chapter 4.04, Fiscal Year, And Introducing Section 4.04.030 

General Fund Capital Project Fund, 4.04.040 General Fund Vehicle And Heavy 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

11 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Equipment Fleet Fund, And 4.04.050 Utility Department Vehicle And Heavy Equipment 

Fleet Fund until July 1, 2013 

 

Public Comment 

None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 13-05, And Ordinance Amending 

Title 4, Revenue And Finance, Chapter 4.04, Fiscal Year, And Introducing Section 4.04.030 

General Fund Capital Project Fund, 4.04.040 General Fund Vehicle And Heavy 

Equipment Fleet Fund, And 4.04.050 Utility Department Vehicle And Heavy Equipment 

Fleet Fund 

 

Seconded by Mr. Nelson 

 

Discussion 

Ms. Sikma asked if they could bring it up before that date. 

 

Mr. McGhee said he doesn’t want to see this die but would like to be able to discuss it at a later 

date and set up more workshops to find funding so the residents could agree with it. 

 

Ms. Hunter wanted clarification on how this was going to be funded.  She asked if it could be 

postponed. 

 

Mayor Ward said this was tied to the sales tax and with the mill rate.  He said this could be 

amended and then brought back at a later date. 

 

 

PASSED 

YES:  7 – Sikma, Hunter, Holm, Nelson, Smith, McGhee, Ward 

NO:  0 

Absent: 0 

 

 

ORDINANCE 13-06, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 2, CHAPTER 2.36 PAY, OF 

THE PERSONNEL CODE 

Mayor Ward stated that this ordinance includes changing some designations, housekeeping, and 

an area of change in code in relation to line items 56, 57, and 60; and removing the word council.  

He said they had been hiring above the lowest range and it is against code.  This would also 

allow one of the employees to continue their education to attain her CMC. 

 

Public Comment 

 None 

 

Mr. McGhee moved to Introduce and Advance Ordinance 13-06, An Ordinance Amending 

Title 2, Chapter 2.36 Pay, Of the Personnel Code 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

12 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Seconded by Ms. Sikma 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said this is a perfect example of the growth in City when the times are tight.  The 

City has not needed a Deputy Clerk and only needed someone when the Clerk has been at 

training or vacation and then need someone to sit in to only take minutes and record meetings.  

He didn’t feel that now is not the time to do this.  He also does not agree to take away the 

councils power to decide on pay or the over hire on this ordinance. 

 

Mr. Holm said that he agrees with everything that Mr. McGhee said and reminded council who 

they work for; the citizens of the city, not the employees.  The Council is being asked to tow the 

line and that’s what they should do. 

 

Ms. Sikma asked what the Deputy Clerk does. 

 

Mrs. Weber stated that Mrs. Fogarty has already started to get credits to become a Certified 

Municipal Clerk on her own and through the City.  Without having the designation from the 

City, the IIMC does not want to grant those credits.  She has not asked for any monetary increase 

and is a great asset with her knowledge of the area.   

 

Ms. Sikma said this ordinance was basically to allow the mayor to hire someone at a higher rate 

as long as it was already budgeted for. 

 

Ms. Hunter asked if we were adding an additional position by adding a Deputy Clerk. 

 

Mayor Ward stated that the city was not adding another position but only adding a designation to 

an existing position. 

 

Mr. Smith asked if the City has a mechanism where employees would be able to take classes and 

be reimbursed for them through the City.  

 

Mrs. Weber said that there is a mechanism through code where employees could take classes that 

benefit their job and would be reimbursed once approved by their supervisor. 

 

Mr. Ward encouraged the council to move this forward to the next meeting.   

 

Mayor Ward moved to Amend at line 58 after “above the minimum” Any proposed changes 

in wages, salaries, and benefits not provided for in the adopted annual budget must first be 

approved by the council. 

 

Seconded by Ms. Sikma 

 

Discussion 

Mr. McGhee said he didn’t see any need to amend it and that it was already stated in this 

ordinance. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

13 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

Mayor Ward said he took this from the City of Fairbanks code and gave an explanation of how 

that would be and that he would not have to come before council every time as long as it was 

budgeted for. 

 

Ms. Hunter said this would take away the ability of the council to not fill a position if the budget 

required that.  This takes away some of the fiduciary duties that the council may wish to.  She 

said she was leery to approve that. 

 

Mr. Holm said he is not in favor of the ordinance and needs to start looking at attrition and not 

keep replacing everyone that leaves our employment.  He doesn’t want to see anything pass that 

would take from this council affectively letting attrition take its place. 

 

Mayor Ward said this would basically be allowing the Mayor to make the decision instead of 

bringing it before the council every time as long as it was budgeted. 

 

Mr. McGhee is not for the amendment.  In the case where we can’t fill a position then the 

council needs to have that power.  He doesn’t want to take that authority away.  This is why this 

is already in place in code.  He disagrees with ordinance.  He challenged whether Ms. Sikma and 

Ms. Hunter could even vote on this subject.  He said the council was uninformed.  

 

Ms. Hunter raised a point of objection.  

 

Mr. McGhee said that this is the time to cut and not increase. 

 

Ms. Sikma said she received the information last Friday.  She said that this had nothing to do 

with the increase in pay for a Deputy Clerk designation but to add it.  She saw nothing wrong 

with the amendment or ordinance. 

 

PASSED 

YES:  3 – Sikma, Smith, Ward 

NO:  4 – Hunter, Holm, Nelson, McGhee, 

Absent: 0 

 

On the Main Motion 

 

PASSED 

YES:  3 – Sikma, Smith, Ward 

NO:  4 – Hunter, Holm, Nelson, McGhee, 

Absent: 0 

 

 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Ms. Sikma – tough process and echoed the mayor’s words that this has been an encouraging 

process.  She said it is really difficult as a newly elected official in a small town with a large 

burden to make the right decision without input and solutions being presented by those that we 

serve; our employees, residents, and business owners.  She said to continue giving input and 



Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

14 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

telling us what you want so we all the facts to sustain and raise our families. 

 

Mr. Holm – publicly thank all the people that came and testified and he feels personally a little 

justified in the position that he is taking on the council and that is that the city needs to reduce 

spending until we can get additional sources of income. 

 

Mr. Smith – appreciates all the people who came out tonight and the mayor for putting this 

together and the input from the community.  He appreciates the Mayor for bringing forth options 

and giving us ideas. 

 

Mr. Nelson – thanked everyone for coming out.  There was hard deliberation.   

 

Mr. McGhee – loves an audience and thanked the employees for coming out for whatever 

reason.  He has been in the City for 20 years and has made a lot of people mad on the council 

including the mayors and clerk from time to time and said it is never personal and offered an 

apology to anyone who took it personal.  He said we have to say the things we say to be 

understood.  It’s the hardest thing for the departments to bring back to the mayor and the council 

a way to maintain services and maintain moral at a steady level and it won’t be easy.  He doesn’t 

envy the new employees to hear the council say things like what we’ve said like the NPEDC and 

cutting them.  Those are hard thing to say and council has to say it.  Whether he is right or wrong 

he will be voted down by council or voted out of the seat.  We have to say it and need public 

support.  Mr. McGhee said it was nice to see Francie Cork here tonight.  He asked the public to 

help council understand what to do to make it better. He thanked the mayor for what he brought 

forward tonight and Ms. Weber and Ms. Hunter for putting up with him and apologized because 

he didn’t mean it personal.  It wasn’t anyone’s fault that email went down but it’s our 

responsibility to follow up and we have to.  He hopes that department heads and employees can 

get together and come back to council with a proposal to maintain stability and keep everyone 

proud and happy to live and work here. 

 

Ms. Hunter – not going to take Mr. McGhee’s remarks personal but is going to comment on 

them.  She does not think it is in the best interest of city council and a collegial atmosphere to 

accuse someone of not being prepared based on the questions that they ask during the meeting.  

She said that Mr. McGhee may have formed that opinion but that is something that you should 

come and talk to a council member about after, and she would have respectfully have listened.  

Ms. Hunter said she did pick up her agenda before the meeting this afternoon and did read it and 

did have some questions.  The comments that Mr. McGhee made may have had the unintended 

consequences of saying to City Council members, ‘if you asked questions of clarification maybe 

that puts you in a bad light’.  She said that asking questions is very important for people because 

they have to be clear as to what they are voting on, how two pieces fit together. She thanked 

everyone for testifying and said it makes the city operate better and they welcome it and need it 

and to makes us a team.   

 

Mayor Ward –thanked the public and staff for coming out tonight.  He said this is part of the 

public process and you may not always like the way it turns out, it might not always go in your 

favor, but it is a part of the process.  If there is a question on any of the agenda’s that we have 

coming up or need an agenda, they are posted on the website www.northpolealaska.com.  He 

encouraged the public to come in and ask questions and that his door is always open. 

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


Regular City Council Meeting 

April 15, 2013 

7:00 p.m. 

15 
City of North Pole 

Minutes of April 15, 2013 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mr. McGhee adjourned the meeting at 9:52 p.m.  

 

Seconded by Ms. Sikma 

 

The regular meeting of April 1, 2013 adjourned at 9:52 p.m. 

 

These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City 

Council on Monday, April 15, 2013. 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:  

             

                          

 

_________________________________________ 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 

North Pole City Clerk 

























































Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced & Advanced:  May 6, 2013 

Possible Adoption:  May 20, 2013 
 1 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 2 

ORDINANCE 13-07 3 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 8, HEALTH AND SAFETY,  4 

SECTION 8.04.160, NOISE 5 

WHEREAS, changes to the North Pole Municipal Code is a continually changing requirement; 6 

and  7 

WHEREAS, the City of North Pole desires to make changes to Title 8, Health and Safety, of the 8 

North Pole Municipal Code to bring it into compliance with existing laws. 9 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of North Pole: 10 

 Section 1.  This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and shall by codified. 11 

 Section 2.  Title 8, Section 8.04.160 of the North Pole Municipal Code of Ordinances is 12 

amended as follows: 13 

SECTION 8.04.160 14 

NOISE Disturbing the peace 15 

Sections: 16 

8.04.160 Noise. Disturbing the peace. 17 

 18 

8.04.160 Noise. Disturbing the peace. 19 

A. Barking Dogs. No person or persons shall allow their dog or dogs to bark, howl or disturb the 20 

peace between the hours of 10:00 pm and 6:00 am to the extent that neighbors complain. 21 

B. Loud music or other noise. To provide residents the opportunity to rest at night all music, 22 

shouting, construction noise or noise of any activity shall be limited between the hours of 10:00 23 

pm and 6:00 am so as not to disturb the peace and be a cause for complaint. 24 

A.  A person commits the offense of disturbing the peace if he: 25 

 1.  In a public place, repeatedly or continuously shouts, blows a horn, plays a musical 26 

or recording or amplifying instrument, or otherwise generates loud sound or noise with the 27 

intent to disturb or in reckless disregard of the peace and privacy of others. 28 

 2.  In a private place, engages in the conduct described in subsection (A)(1) of this 29 

section, with the same intent or reckless disregard, after having been informed by another that 30 

the conduct is disturbing the peace and privacy of others not in the same place. 31 

http://www.codepublishing.com/ak/northpole/html/NorthPole08/NorthPole0804.html#8.04.160


Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced & Advanced:  May 6, 2013 

Possible Adoption:  May 20, 2013 

 3.  Between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., operates or uses a pile driver, 32 

pneumatic hammer, bulldozer, road grader, loader, power shovel, derrick, backhoe, power 33 

saw, manual hammer, motorcycle, snow machine or other instrument, appliance or vehicle 34 

which generates loud sounds or noise, after having been informed by another that such 35 

operations or use is disturbing the peace and privacy of others. 36 

4.  Keeps any dog or other animal which is allowed to engage in frequent or prolonged 37 

barking or other loud noise-producing activity, after having been informed by another that 38 

such frequent or prolonged barking or noise-producing activity is disturbing the peace and 39 

privacy of others. 40 

5.  Repeatedly or continuously sounds any horn or other sound-producing warning 41 

device on a motor vehicle when such repeated or continued sounding is not necessary to warn 42 

of any danger. 43 

B.  After being informed by a police officer that his conduct is in violation of subsection (A), 44 

refuses to abate the prohibited activity. 45 

C.  As used in subsections (A)(1) and (A)(2) of this section: 46 

 1.  “Loud sound” in a public place means sound which is loud enough to inhibit the 47 

ability of a not unduly sensitive person in the same place to speak freely without leaving the 48 

same place. 49 

 2.  “Loud sound” in a private place means sound which is loud enough to awaken a 50 

not unduly sensitive person in another private place. 51 

 3.  The inside and outside of buildings and separate residences within an apartment 52 

house, and separate rooms within a hotel are different places. 53 

D.  As used in subsections (A)(3) and (A)(4) of this sections, loud sound or loud noise is sound 54 

or noise which would awaken, or cause difficulty in sleeping for, the average, not unduly 55 

sensitive individual attempting to sleep in any house, apartment, hotel, motel or other 56 

residence in the vicinity of the sound or noise-producing activity. 57 

E.  The following sound or noise is not prohibited by this section: 58 

 1.  Noise of safety signals, warning devices and emergency pressure relief valves when 59 

used for their warning of emergency purposes. 60 

 2.  Noise produced by any authorized emergency vehicle when responding to an 61 

emergency call or when otherwise authorized by law or ordinance to activate its sirens or other 62 

warning devices. 63 



Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 

Introduced & Advanced:  May 6, 2013 

Possible Adoption:  May 20, 2013 

 3.  Noises necessarily produced in the course of work required to protect persons or 64 

property from imminent peril. 65 

 4.  Noise produced by any activity for which a permit has been issued pursuant to 66 

subsection (F) of this section. 67 

F.  Applications for a permit for relief from the application of this section to any activity on 68 

the basis of undue hardship may be made to the mayor or his duly authorized representative.  69 

A non-refundable application fee and a permit fee, as set forth in the city’s schedule of fees 70 

and charges for services, will be charged for the city’s processing of an application.  Any 71 

permit granted by the mayor under this subsection shall contain all conditions upon which 72 

such permit has been granted and shall specify a reasonable time that the permit shall be 73 

effective.  The mayor or duly authorized representative may grant the relief as applied for if he 74 

finds that: 75 

 1.  Additional time is necessary for the applicant to alter or modify his activity or 76 

operation to comply with this sections; or 77 

 2.  The activity, operation or noise source will be of a temporary duration and cannot 78 

be done in a manner that would comply with other paragraphs of this section; and 79 

 3.  No other reasonable alternative is available to the applicant. 80 

However, the mayor may prescribe any conditions or requirements he deems necessary to 81 

minimize adverse effects upon the community or the surrounding neighborhood. 82 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 83 

20
th

 day of May, 2013. 84 

       ___________________________________ 85 

        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 86 

ATTEST: 87 

_____________________________ 88 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 89 

North Pole City Clerk 90 

PASSED/FAILED 91 

YES: 92 

NO: 93 

Absent: 94 

 95 

























































































Sponsored by: Mayor Bryce J. Ward 

Introduced & Adopted: May 6, 2013 

PASSED/FAILED 

YES 

NO 

ABSENT 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 

RESOLUTION 13-08 

 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING MAYOR BRYCE J WARD AUTHORITY TO 

ENTER INTO A SHORT-TERM LINE OF CREDIT LOAN FOR $500,000 WITH 

MOUNT MCKINLEY BANK TO FACILITATE CITY CASH FLOW DURING THE 

SUMMER 2013 CONSTRUCTION SEASON 

 

WHEREAS, the City of North Pole seeks to obtain the necessary financial assistance to 

construct utility system improvements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Alaska, Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) has 

awarded the City an Alaska Clean Water Fund Loan for $1,416,500 and Municipal Matching 

Grant for $2,515,000 to construct the Sewer Main Lining and Manhole Rehabilitation Project; and 

 

WHEREAS contractor invoices may be of such magnitude that they could negatively affect City 

cash flow before the ADEC reimburses Utility Department reimbursement requests; and  

 

WHEREAS, as of April 30, 2013 the Utility Department’s capital reserves totaled $898,835, 

sufficient to pay expected contractor invoices, but large contractor invoices could reduce the 

overall City revenue balance to an undesirable level; and 

 

WHEREAS, to ensure adequate cash flow for all City departments and operations, the City shall 

acquire a short-term line of credit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Utility Department will pay all loan associated costs and expenses from its 

capital project funds for use of the loan when applied to Utility Department expenses; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City is authorized to apply to Mount 

McKinley bank for a short-term line of credit not to exceed $500,000. If the loan is approved by 

Mount McKinley Bank, Mayor Bryce J. Ward is authorized to execute any and all documents 

that may be required by Mount McKinley Bank to reflect the indebtedness, the terms of its 

repayment, and any security therefore, including but not limited to an agreement for the loan and 

a promissory note. All loan agreements executed by the Mayor on behalf of the City shall be in 

accordance with the North Pole City Charter (Chapter XI, Section 11.1) and North Pole 

Municipal Code (Title 4, Revenue and Finance, 4.16 Purchasing). 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY A DULY CONSTITUTED QUORUM OF THE NORTH 

POLE CITY COUNCIL THIS 6
th

 DAY OF MAY 2013. 

 

        ______________________________ 

         Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

Kathryn M. Weber, MMC 

North Pole City Clerk 
 
















	AG-05-06-13
	Min-04-15-13
	FCVB Awards Banquet
	FNSB Transit Workshop
	Proclamations
	Reconsideration by Sharrron Hunter
	Odinance 13-06 Amending Title 2, Chapter 2.36 Personnel Code - Pay
	Recommendation to purchase forensic equipment for the NPPD
	Recommendation to purchase Police motorcycle
	Recommendation to purchase backhoe for PW & Utilities
	Ord 13-07 Amending Title 8 Health & Safety. Disturbing the peace.
	Ord 13-08 Amending the Budget and Levying the Mill Rate
	Res 13-08 Short-Term Line of Credit Resolution
	Res 13-09 Requesting public access easement for installation of a fitness trail exercise station

